# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/21/2020 9:54 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/21/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98190-6

NO. 51174-6-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH EDWARDS,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

The Honorable Michael H. Evans, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

## **

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is this Court's review warranted to finally resolve whether conducting for-cause challenges at an unrecorded, unmemorialized, and therefore improper sidebar violates a criminal defendant's public trial right?
- 2. Is this Court's review warranted where court of appeals case law is in conflict as to the appropriate harmless error standard when the jury is erroneously instructed on an uncharged alternative means?
- 3. Is this Court's review warranted to resolve whether statements by a co-conspirator are admissible when made after the conspirators have been arrested, charged, and the endeavor has failed?
- 4. Is this Court's review warranted to determine whether a juror who was a potential witness to part of the criminal transaction is biased (implied or actual) as a matter of law and must be dismissed from the jury?
- 5. Should this Court also review the issues Edwards raised in his Statement of Additional Grounds for Review?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A jury convicted Joseph Edwards, as charged, of two counts of first degree robbery, three counts of first degree burglary, and two counts of second degree assault, all with deadly weapon enhancements.<sup>1</sup> CP 10-12, 51-64. All the charges arose from two burglaries allegedly committed by Edwards, Kelsie Lee, and Mescha Johnson on October 28, 2016: one against Alexander and Heather Salzman (counts 1-3), and one against Alexander and Jessica Collazo (counts 4-7). CP 10-12. At Edwards' trial, Johnson testified for the prosecution. Lee did not testify. Edwards' defense was identity.

The Salzmans lived in Kelso, Washington. 3RP 79-81. Around 3:00 a.m. on October 28, Mr. Salzman awoke to a knock at the front door. 3RP 82. Outside was an unfamiliar woman claiming she had been raped. 3RP 82-83. Mr. Salzman let the woman inside while Ms. Salzman let the woman use her iPhone to call a friend. 3RP 82-83, 124. Another woman followed the first woman inside. 3RP 125.

Seconds later, two masked men barged in the front door (count 3, burglary against the Salzmans). 3RP 125. One was shorter and appeared to be Caucasian, with a red bandana covering his face. 3RP 86-87, 125-26. The other was taller and appeared to be a light-skinned African American man, wearing a dark hoody and black ski mask. 3RP 87-88, 125-27. The

-2-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> One burglary and one robbery, and their corresponding weapon enhancements, were ultimately vacated as violating double jeopardy. 5RP 580-81; Opinion, 31-33.

taller man wielded a crowbar-type object—a nail puller as Mr. Salzman specified—that was about 12 to 16 inches in length. 3RP 85, 94-96, 125-29. Both men wore opaque vinyl or latex gloves. 3RP 87-88, 127, 130.

The two masked intruders demanded a man named Michael Woods, who apparently owed them a large sum of money. 3RP 89, 127-28. At one point, the taller man pocketed Mr. Salzman's wallet from a nearby cabinet. 3RP 92. All four intruders left shortly thereafter with Mr. Salzman's cellphone and wallet (count 1, robbery) and Ms. Salzman's cellphone (count 2, robbery). 3RP 92, 97-98, 131. The taller man put the crowbar in his sweatshirt sleeve as he left. 3RP 129.

At trial, both Mr. and Ms. Salzman testified the taller man had noticeable metallic dental work. 3RP 88, 128. However, neither of them included this salient fact in their written statements to police, given right after the burglary. 3RP 110-11, 135, 138. Both acknowledged they read news stories about the burglary, which described Edwards' metallic teeth. 3RP 111, 138-39. When Edwards was compelled to stand at trial, the Salzmans confirmed he was approximately the same height and build as the taller masked man. 3RP 97, 134. However, neither could positively identify Edwards as the intruder. 3RP 111-12, 140. Mr. Salzman later identified Lee in a photograph, and the Salzmans' cellphones were recovered from Edwards' wife, Yolanda, in Seattle. 3RP 101-03, 132-33, 206.

The Collazos also lived in Kelso. 3RP 145. Mr. Collazo did not testify at trial. Ms. Collazo testified, on October 26, sometime around 8:00 a.m., she and Mr. Collazo awoke to see three masked intruders—two women and one man—rushing into their bedroom (counts 4 and 5, burglary against the Collazos). 3RP 148-50, 169. Ms. Collazo remembered being hit in the head with something. 3RP 148.

Ms. Collazo tried to fight one of the women while the man attacked Mr. Collazo with a crowbar. 3RP 149. Ms. Collazo testified she ripped the mask off the woman and recognized her as Johnson. 3RP 149-50. Ms. Collazo and Johnson were friends, and Johnson previously lived with the Collazos. 3RP 145-46. Ms. Collazo explained Johnson and Edwards, whom she knew as "New York," formerly dated and had a child together. 3RP 145-47. Ms. Collazo had met New York only twice before, but recalled he has gold teeth. 3RP 145-47, 164. Ms. Collazo claimed she recognized New York based on his voice. 3RP 149-50, 156-57, 166.

As the struggle continued, Ms. Collazo attempted to get a gun from the closet, which prompted Johnson to call for the man's help. 3RP 150. Ms. Collazo testified the man then hit her in the head with the crowbar. 3RP 150. Mr. Collazo was eventually able to unlatch their bedroom window and flee. 3RP 150-51. The man and other woman followed Mr. Collazo, while

Johnson stayed behind. 3RP 151. Both Mr. and Ms. Collazo were injured from the incident (counts 6 and 7, assault). 3RP 151-53.

The Collazos' neighbor, Heather Delagasse, testified that around 8:15 a.m. that day, she was standing outside when she saw two women and one man run up to the Collazo doorstep from the alley behind their house. 3RP 171-72. Delagasse recognized one of the women as Johnson and the man as Edwards, both of whom she had met before. 3RP 173. Delagasse testified Edwards was wearing a dark hooded sweatshirt and looked like he had something in his sleeve. 3RP 174. Delagasse went inside her house to call Mr. Collazo, who did not answer. 3RP 175. When Delagasse went back outside, she saw Mr. Collazo stumbling down the street. 3RP 175. Delagasse called the police. 3RP 175.

When the police responded, Johnson was still at the Collazo house. 3RP 197. Johnson showed the police her car parked nearby and gave them permission to search it. 3RP 197-98. The police collected several latex gloves from Johnson's car, including two on the backseat, as well as several more in the door pockets. 3RP 198-204. Another similar glove was found near the Salzman home. 3RP 116-17. All the gloves were tested for Edwards' DNA, but the only gloves that matched were the two from the backseat of Johnson's car. 3RP 229-34; 4RP 305-06. Police also found an identification card belonging to Lee in a backpack in the car. 3RP 205.

Johnson was arrested at the scene. 3RP 197. Edwards and Lee were arrested together in Ohio on November 9. 3RP 207-08; 4RP 292. Johnson testified at trial that she and Edwards, whose nickname is New York, previously dated and have a child together. 4RP 337-38. She explained Edwards and Lee have dated since June of 2016. 4RP 338. Johnson testified she, Edwards, and Lee were involved in two burglaries. 4RP 341-42. Johnson pleaded guilty to the burglaries and agreed to testify against Edwards in exchange for a favorable sentence recommendation of only 48 months in prison and the promise to get her children back. 4RP 350, 362.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. This Court's review is warranted to determine whether the public trial right is violated when a trial court considers forcause challenges at an unrecorded, unmemorialized, and therefore improper "sidebar."

At Edwards' trial, prospective jurors were questioned on the record in the courtroom. 2RP 5, 40, 64. But the trial court asked the parties to reserve for-cause challenges until a sidebar conference at the end of voir dire. 2RP 41-42. The court then "invite[d] the attorneys forward to exercise their challenges." 2RP 79-80. The court did not dismiss the jury, but noted they should "feel free to carry on conversations." 2RP 80.

The clerk's minutes show the parties exercised their juror challenges at sidebar for approximately 22 minutes, from 11:27 a.m. to 11:49 a.m. CP

151. The sidebar was not contemporaneously recorded or reported, so no transcript is available. Following the sidebar, the trial court read aloud the excused jurors' names and numbers, along with the numbers of the 13 empaneled jurors. 2RP 80-82. At no time did the trial court memorialize the content of the sidebar on the record.

A written struck juror list was filed the same day. CP 146-49. The list includes a voir dire code with "Pla" for the prosecution's peremptory challenges, "Def" for the defense peremptories, "Cs" for for-cause challenges, "NR" for not reached, "Sw" for sworn jurors, and "Alt" for alternate jurors. CP 147-49. According to the struck juror list, the trial court granted 12 for-cause challenges. CP 147-49. The list does not specify which party exercised which challenge, nor does it state the basis for each challenge. The record does not reveal whether the trial court denied any for-cause challenges or granted any over objection. CP 150-51, 147-49.

Edwards argued on appeal that this procedure violated his public trial right. The public trial right attaches to jury selection and, Edwards contended, the 22-minute unrecorded, unmemorialized "sidebar" was not a proper sidebar and therefore constituted a courtroom closure. Am. Br. of Appellant, 11-21. Edwards emphasized the lack of record on for-cause challenges effectively insulated jury selection from public scrutiny and from appellate review. Am. Br. of Appellant, 18.

The court of appeals acknowledged the struck juror list "did not specify which party exercised which for-cause challenge, nor did the list disclose the basis for each challenge. Neither the clerk's minutes nor the struck juror list elucidated whether the trial court denied any for-cause challenges." Opinion, 8. Yet the court of appeals nevertheless held no courtroom closure occurred, concluding "the public could scrutinize the jury selection process from beginning to end," by observing "counsel exercise challenges at the bench and on paper." Opinion, 18.

The procedure employed by the trial court and the holding by the court of appeals reveals tension between this Court's decisions in <u>State v. Smith</u>, 181 Wn.2d 508, 334 P.3d 1049 (2014), <u>State v. Love</u>, 183 Wn.2d 598, 354 P.3d 841 (2015), and <u>State v. Whitlock</u>, 188 Wn.2d 511, 396 P.3d 310 (2017). Review is warranted under all four RAP 13.4(b) criteria, to resolve this tension and clarify whether hearing for-cause challenges at an unrecorded, unmemorialized "sidebar" violates the public trial right.

In <u>Smith</u>, 181 Wn.2d at 512, the trial court heard evidentiary objections at multiple sidebars, held in the hallway outside the courtroom. This Court held evidentiary sidebars do not implicate the public trial right. <u>Id.</u> at 519. "Proper sidebars," the court explained, "deal with the mundane

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Edwards moved to reconsider, again emphasizing the record still failed to reveal whether any for-cause challenges were denied or granted over objection. Motion to Reconsider, 2. After calling for an answer from the State, the court of appeals denied Edwards' motion for reconsideration. Appendix B.

issues implicating little public interest." <u>Id.</u> at 516. "[E]videntiary rulings that are the subject of traditional sidebars do not invoke any of the concerns the public trial right is meant to address regarding perjury, transparency, or the appearance of fairness." <u>Id.</u> at 518.

But the <u>Smith</u> court also emphasized, "[c]ritically, the sidebars here were contemporaneously memorialized and recorded, thus negating any concern about secrecy. The public was not prevented from knowing what occurred." <u>Id.</u> The court further cautioned "that merely characterizing something as a 'sidebar' does not make it so." <u>Id.</u> at 516 n.10. Therefore, "[t]o avoid implicating the public trial right, sidebars must be limited in content to their traditional subject areas, should be done only to avoid disrupting the flow of trial, and must either be on the record or be promptly memorialized in the record." <u>Id.</u> The <u>Smith</u> court ultimately did not decide whether a sidebar constitutes a courtroom closure. Id. at 520.

In <u>Love</u>, this Court considered whether exercising for-cause challenges orally at the bench and peremptory challenges silently using a "struck juror sheet" violated the public trial right. 183 Wn.2d at 601-02. While the proceeding implicated the public trial right, this Court held no courtroom closure occurred. <u>Id.</u> at 606. The <u>Love</u> court reasoned no portion of the jury selection process was concealed from the public. <u>Id.</u> at 607. Rather, "observers could watch the trial judge and counsel ask questions of

potential jurors, listen to the answers to those questions, see counsel exercise challenges at the bench and on paper, and ultimately evaluate the empaneled jury." <u>Id.</u> And, as in <u>Smith</u>, "[t]he transcript of the discussion about for cause challenges and the struck juror sheet showing the peremptory challenges are both publicly available." <u>Id.</u> The public could therefore scrutinize jury selection from start to finish. Id.

Following Love, the court of appeals held a courtroom closure does not occur when for-cause challenges conducted at sidebar are not recorded or memorialized. State v. Effinger, 194 Wn. App. 554, 561-62, 375 P.3d 701 (2016); State v. Anderson, 194 Wn. App. 547, 377 P.3d 278 (2016). The Effinger court found the lack of recording to be "inconsequential" to its analysis. 194 Wn. App. at 563-64. The court of appeals in Edwards' case "deem[ed] Effinger controlling." Opinion, 18.

However, this Court's more recent decision in <u>Whitlock</u> suggests <u>Effinger</u> and <u>Anderson</u> are incorrect. In <u>Whitlock</u>, the parties discussed and the trial court ruled in chambers on the proper extent of cross-examination of a confidential informant. 188 Wn.2d at 514. The <u>Whitlock</u> court held this proceeding violated the public trial right because it "was definitely not a '[p]roper sidebar." <u>Id.</u> at 522 (alteration in original) (quoting <u>Smith</u>, 181 Wn.2d at 516). There were three reasons the in-chambers proceeding was not a proper sidebar.

First, "proper" sidebars deal with "mundane issues" such as "scheduling, housekeeping, and decorum." <u>Id.</u> at 514. A confidential informant's potential bias did not meet that standard. <u>Id.</u> at 523. Second, chambers are, by definition, closed to the public. <u>Id.</u> at 522. And, third, the in-chambers proceeding "was not recorded or promptly memorialized." <u>Id.</u>

Here, the proceeding was not a proper sidebar because it did not meet the first and third requirements—it dealt with jury selection, not a mundane issue, and was never recorded or memorialized. The court of appeals here quickly distinguished Whitlock on the basis that "Edwards' trial sidebars did not occur in chambers." Opinion, 19. But, whether in chambers or at an inaudible, unrecorded, unmemorialized sidebar, either way the public cannot learn what transpired. The public is ultimately excluded from the proceeding. The record remains silent as to whether the trial court denied for-cause challenges by either party or granted any over objection.

Thus, this case squarely presents the question left open in <u>Smith</u>: whether a sidebar that is not a "proper" sidebar (i.e., not involving mundane matters and not contemporaneously recorded or promptly memorialized) constitutes a courtroom closure. Clarification is necessary because trial courts continue to hear for-cause challenges at unrecorded, unmemorialized sidebars and the court of appeals continues to sanction the procedure.

Furthermore, the Cowlitz County judge in this case is repeatedly using this procedure in criminal trials. See, e.g., State v. Michael Phillips, No. 53451-7-II; State v. Mikael Wesley Miller, No. 53545-9-II. In both Phillips and Miller, the court of appeals has granted the appellants' request to remand for reconstruction of the record on for-cause challenges heard at sidebar. After-the-fact reconstruction is time-consuming, expensive, and fallible.<sup>3</sup> A decision from this Court would put to rest any lingering confusion and/or need for record reconstruction in such cases. This Court should accordingly grant review.

2. This Court's review is also warranted to resolve a conflict in the case law regarding the correct harmless error standard when a jury is instructed on an uncharged alternative means.

A person is guilty of first degree robbery if, in the commission of a robbery or immediate flight therefrom, he "(i) Is armed with a deadly weapon; or (ii) Displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon." RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a). Being armed with a deadly weapon and displaying what appears to be a deadly weapon are alternative means of committing first degree robbery. In re Pers. Restraint of Brockie, 178 Wn.2d 532, 538, 309 P.3d 498 (2013).

Edwards was charged with two counts of first degree robbery—one against Mr. Salzman (count 1) and one against Ms. Salzman (count 2). The

-12-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Reconstruction has been pending since November 6, 2019 in <u>Phillips</u> and since December 23, 2019 in <u>Miller</u>, with all briefing suspended.

charges contained identical language and alleged only the alternative that "the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon," citing RCW 9A.56.200 (1)(a)(i). CP 11. The information did not allege the alternative that Edwards displayed what appeared to be a deadly weapon. CP 11.

The to-convict instructions, however, contained both the charged and the uncharged means of committing first degree robbery, "That in the commission of these acts the defendant displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon." CP 38-41. The jury was instructed it did not need to be unanimous as to which of the alternatives means had been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 38-41.

Instructing the jury on the uncharged alternative means of robbery was manifest constitutional error. State v. Brewczynski, 173 Wn. App. 541, 549, 294 P.3d 825 (2013). The relevant question is whether the error was harmless. Opinion, 27 (assuming error and proceeding to harmless error analysis). But the case law is currently in conflict on the correct harmless error standard, necessitating this Court's review.

Such an error may be harmless "if the other instructions clearly limit the crime to the charged alternative." <u>Brewczynski</u>, 173 Wn. App. at 549. The error may also be harmless "if other instructions clearly and specifically define the charged crime." <u>State v. Chino</u>, 117 Wn. App. 531, 540, 72 P.3d 256 (2003). The error is not harmless where it "remains possible that the

jury convicted [the accused] on the basis of the uncharged alternative." <u>Id.</u> at 540-41.

In <u>State v. Nicholas</u>, 55 Wn. App. 261, 273, 776 P.2d 1385 (1989), the prosecution charged Nicholas with first degree robbery based only on the means of being armed with a deadly weapon. The trial court erroneously instructed the jury on the additional, uncharged means of displaying what appeared to be a deadly weapon. <u>Id.</u> at 272-73. But the <u>Nicholas</u> court held the instructional error harmless because the jury returned a special verdict finding Nicholas was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of commission of the crime. <u>Id.</u> at 273. The court concluded it was therefore impossible that the jury convicted Nicholas based on the uncharged means. Id.

Not so in <u>Brewczynski</u>. There, the prosecution charged Brewczynski with first degree burglary based only on the means that he was armed with a deadly weapon (a handgun). 173 Wn. App. at 548-49. The to-convict instruction erroneously included the uncharged alternative means of assaulting any person. <u>Id.</u> at 549. The jury returned a general verdict form on the burglary and a special verdict form on a firearm enhancement, finding Brewczynski was armed with a firearm during the burglary. <u>Id.</u> Despite the firearm enhancement finding, the court held the error was not harmless—"it remain[ed] possible that the jury convicted Mr. Brewczynski on the basis of the uncharged alternative." <u>Id.</u> at 550.

The court of appeals here held <u>Nicholas</u> and not <u>Brewczynski</u> to be controlling. Opinion, 28-31. But the two cases are at odds with one another. Both had special verdicts finding the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon or firearm at the time of the offense, which established the charged alternative means. But the special verdict forms did nothing to ensure the jury convicted solely on the charged alternative means of robbery.

In Edwards' case, the jury returned general verdict forms finding him guilty on both counts of robbery, without specifying which means it relied on. CP 51-52. The jury was instructed to consider the deadly weapon enhancement special verdict forms only *after* a finding of guilt on the robberies. CP 48. While the special verdicts established the jury found Edwards was armed with a deadly weapon in commission of the robberies, they do not establish the jury relied solely on that means in convicting him. This does not meet the harmless error standard articulated in Brewczynski.

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