FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/24/2020 12:55 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Motion for Over-length Brief Granted 5/1/20

SUPREME COURT NO. 98190-6 C.O.A. No. 51174-6-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH EDWARDS,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS LADOUCEUR/WSBA# 19963 Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Hall of Justice 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

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

¹⁰ Juror #3 was the mother of one of the police officers who testified and said she was biased. Juror #42 also said she knew a witness and was biased. Both were excused without objection prior to the sidebar at issue. RP 5-7, 40, 41.

why each of these jurors were excused was made known in open court, with no objection from Edwards, there was no improper courtroom closure.

2. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals decisions in *State v. Effinger* ¹¹ and *State v. Anderson* ¹² followed *State v. Love. Effinger* is directly on point. There,

"during voir dire, the trial court first asked the potential jurors several questions regarding their ability to remain fair and impartial. The potential jurors answered these questions in open court. Many of the potential jurors were either in law enforcement or had family members who were. The attorneys then conducted voir dire. The court invited the attorneys up to the sidebar where an unreported discussion was held. After conducting a sidebar and after asking the venire another question, the trial court conducted another sidebar to allow the parties to exercise for cause challenges and to excuse jurors for hardship. That procedure was not transcribed, but it occurred in open court. After the sidebar, the trial court announced in open court that nine jurors were excused. The trial court then conducted another unrecorded sidebar to allow the parties to exercise their peremptory challenges. Following the third sidebar, the trial court announced the composition of the jury. The trial court then swore in the jurors who were to hear the case. All of the sidebars were memorialized on a case information sheet. The sheet indicated that jurors 4, 6, 12, 13, 18, and 22 were excused for cause. It also indicated that the trial court excused juror 23 for cause, but the court did not announce that result in open court. The sheet showed that jurors 9 and 26 were struck for hardship and that 35 was struck because the number was not reached; however, the trial court had already excused juror 35 after the second sidebar. The trial court filed the case information sheet, and it was a part of the record." Effinger, at 559.

¹¹ 194 Wash. App. 554, 375 P.3d 701 (2016)

¹² 194 Wash. App. 547, 549, 377 P.3d 278, 279–80 (2016)

Effinger held "no closure occurred, in violation of defendant's public trial right, when the parties struck jurors at sidebars, which were not transcribed; parties silently exercised peremptory challenges at sidebar so people in the courtroom could not hear, and record included the case information sheets showing those jurors who were excused, questioning of the potential jurors took place in open court for everyone to hear and observe, and jurors' answers to the questions occurred in open court." The court found the case factually similar to Love, noting that in both cases questioning of the potential jurors took place in open court for everyone to hear and observe; the jurors' answers to the questions occurred in open court; the court held a sidebar to discuss for cause challenges; the sidebar was visible to observers in the courtroom; although the record was silent as to what the public could hear, the trial court did not ask anybody to leave the courtroom; after the sidebars, both courts excused jurors who had been questioned in front of the defendant and the public; in open court and on the record, both courts read the names of some of the jurors who were excused; and both courts empaneled the jury in open court.

Effinger adopted the reasoning of Love, "Observers could watch the trial judge and counsel ask questions of potential jurors, listen to the answers to those questions, see counsel exercise challenges at the bench and on paper, and ultimately evaluate the empaneled jury. The transcript of the

discussion about for cause challenges and the struck juror sheet showing the peremptory challenges are both publically available. The public was present for and could scrutinize the selection of Love's jury from start to finish, affording him the safeguards of the public trial right missing in cases where we found closures of jury selection. We hold the procedures used at Love's trial comport with the minimum guarantees of the public trial right and find no closure here." *Love*, at 607. The court recognized that in *Love*, the sidebar was recorded but that circumstance, was not dispositive of whether or not an open court violation occurred. "The fact that the sidebars in Effinger's case were not recorded, therefore, is inconsequential to our analysis and decision" (emphasis added) *Effinger*, at 563–64.

Edwards is just like *Effinger* and *Love*. Like those cases the public was present for and could scrutinize the jury selection from start to finish, observers could watch and hear the questions posed to the panel, listen to their answers, see counsel exercise challenges at the bench and on paper, the judge announced in open court the composition of the jury excusing jurors who had been questioned in front of the defendant and the public, a struck juror list was utilized and filed for the record which indicated which jurors were excused and what type of challenges were made, and the record preserved the bases for the jurors' dismissals. As in *Effinger* the fact that the sidebar was unrecorded does not amount to an open court violation.

State v. Anderson, ¹³presented a similar situation. There, during voir dire, the questioning of jurors occurred in open court. Anderson challenged four prospective jurors for cause at a sidebar conference, which the judge told the jurors they would not be able to hear. At the sidebar conference, the trial court dismissed the four challenged prospective jurors. The trial court later dismissed a fifth prospective juror for cause on its own initiative at a second sidebar conference. The trial court then announced in open court which prospective jurors would be serving on the jury. The sidebar was unrecorded, but the trial court later noted the challenges and resulting dismissals for the record stating, "At a sidebar before we took the morning recess, I excused for cause, based upon the challenge by [defense counsel], for cause Jurors 5, 15, 18 and 34. Following the second questioning period by [defense counsel], and before we selected the jury, I excused Juror No. 27 for cause."

Upon reconsideration in light of Love, Anderson held that no courtroom closure occurred. The court noted the distinction that the sidebar challenges were recorded in Love. Despite that difference the court observed "The court in Love did not hold that the presence of a court reporter at a sidebar conference was required in order to avoid a courtroom closure. The

¹³ 194 Wash, App. 547, 549, 377 P.3d 278, 279–80 (2016)

key factors for the court were that the public could (1) hear the voir dire questioning that provided the basis for the challenges for cause and (2) observe the sidebar conference while it was occurring. Further, anyone listening to the questioning of the jurors would have been able to easily discern why the trial court dismissed the five jurors for cause." *Anderson* at 607.

The same key points from *Anderson* are present here: (1) the public could hear the voir dire questioning that provided the basis for the challenges for cause (2) observe the sidebar conference while it was occurring, and (3) anyone listening to the questioning of the jurors would have been able to easily discern why the trial court dismissed the 12 jurors for cause.

Edwards contends that Whitlock "suggests" Effinger and Anderson are incorrect. Whitlock does not suggest Effinger and Anderson are incorrect. The facts in Whitlock were just different. Nothing in the appellate court's decision in Edwards conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

B. Uncharged alternative means and harmless error standard

Edwards asserts there is a conflict between *State v. Brewczynski* ¹⁴ and *State v. Nicholas* ¹⁵ on the issue of the harmless error standard as applied to his claim that he may have been convicted of an uncharged alternative means, and that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b) (2) and (3) to resolve this conflict. He contends *Nicholas* and *Brewczynski* are "at odds with one another" because they both had special verdicts finding the defendant of being armed with a deadly weapon or firearm, "which established the charged alternative means." Appellant's brief, page 15.

The State replies that there is no conflict between *Brewczynski* and *Nicholas*, they are simply distinguishable. The law is well-settled on this issue and no new significant question of law is presented that warrants review. The Court of Appeals here correctly ruled that between *Brewczynski* and *Nicholas*, *Nicholas* was factually similar to Edwards and controlled. Edwards is factually distinguishable from *Brewczynski*, not in conflict with it.

In *Brewczynski* the victim was discovered in his home *both*severely beaten and shot once in the head. Brewczynski was charged with
first degree murder with aggravating circumstances, first degree burglary,

¹⁴ 173 Wash. App. 541, 294 P.3d 825 (2013)

¹⁵ 55 Wash. App. 261, 273, 776 P.2d 1385, 1392 (1989)

and theft of a firearm. The first degree burglary charge alleged only one alternative —being armed with a handgun, but the jury was instructed on both the charged alternative and the uncharged alternative (assaulting a person). Brewczynski, at 548—49. The jury convicted him of all charges and found by special verdict that he was armed with a firearm and committed the murder "in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from" first degree burglary. Brewczynski, at 541.

On appeal, the court held instructing the jury on the uncharged alternative was not harmless error because none of the remaining instructions limited the jury to consider solely the "armed with a deadly weapon" alternative of committing first degree burglary, and the prosecutor in closing argument urged the jury to consider both alternatives. The court reversed only the stand-alone first degree burglary conviction due to instructional error, concluding the error was not harmless because it remained possible that the jury convicted on the basis of the uncharged alternative. *Brewczynski*, at 550.

In *Nicholas*, defendant was charged with four counts of first degree robbery while armed with a deadly weapon. Count I alleged he was armed with a deadly weapon, not that he displayed what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon. But on Count I, the trial court instructed the jury that it could convict if it found that he was either armed with a deadly

weapon or displayed what appeared to be a firearm or deadly weapon. Nicholas argued that his first degree robbery conviction required reversal because the jury was instructed on an alternative means never charged. On appeal the court held this was harmless error because the jury found by special verdict that Nicholas was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime. Because the jury was instructed that the State had to prove this fact beyond a reasonable doubt, no possibility existed that the jury impermissibly convicted Nicholas on the uncharged alternative.

Brewczynski is distinguishable from Nicholas and Edwards. First, in Brewczynski, the firearm special verdict form pertained to the murder charge. Therefore, the special verdict did not establish that he was convicted only of the charged alternative (firearm), and not the uncharged alternative (assault). Given the clear evidence of both an assault and a firearm, and the prosecutor's argument, it is understandable that the court concluded Brewczynski could have been convicted on the uncharged alternative (assaulting a person) of first degree burglary.

Unlike *Brewczynsk* all of the evidence in Edwards established only the alternative that he used an actual deadly weapon, not that he

¹⁶ It is unclear at best whether the firearm special verdict even applied to the charge of first degree burglary.

displayed something that appeared to be a deadly weapon, like a replica of a firearm. The court correctly concluded that "instructions in Joseph Edwards' prosecution effectively defined the charged crime. For example, jury instruction 29 stated: "[a] person is armed with a deadly weapon if, at the time of the commission of the crime, the weapon is easily accessible and readily available for offensive or defensive use." CP at 49. The same instruction defined a deadly weapon as "an implement or instrument that has the capacity to inflict death and, from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily produce death." CP at 49." Slip Opinion, at 13.

The instructional error was the same in both Edwards and *Nicholas*– both were charged with first degree robbery while armed with a deadly weapon, but the juries were erroneously instructed on the uncharged alternative of displaying what appeared to be a deadly weapon. In both,

¹⁷ Mr. Salzman testified, the taller man held up a crowbar in a threatening manner and he was waiting for the man to swing it at him. RP 97. He described the crowbar or nail puller as being yellow and gray. RP 96. The gray and yellow crowbar stood out to Mr. Salzman so he included the information in his written statement. RP 106, 107. Mrs. Salzman testified that two masked men came barging into the house. One held a crowbar up in the air. RP 122-125. The crowbar was 12 to 16 inches long, and yellow and gray or faded black. RP 129. The second man was above 6 foot tall, wore a black ski mask and gloves, and had dark skin. This second taller man was the one holding up the crowbar. This second man with the crowbar had something shiny in his teeth like silver or gold. When they left, the taller man stuck the crowbar up the sleeve of his sweatshirt. RP 129, 130. The taller man with the crowbar took Mr. Salzman's wallet. RP 131. The defendant was approximately the same height as the man with the ski mask and the crowbar. RP 134.

the juries returned deadly weapon special verdict forms. Additionally, in Edwards, instruction # 24, outlined the elements of the associated charge of burglary in the first degree pertaining to the Salzman's (Count 3): "1. That on or about October 28, 2016, the defendant entered or remained unlawfully in a building of Alexander Salzman. 2. That the entering remaining was with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein. 3. That and so entering or while in the building or in immediate flight from the building, the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon..." (Emphasis added).

There is no conflict between *Brewczynski* and *Nicholas*, they are simply distinguishable. Edwards is distinguishable from *Brewczynski* and similar to Nicholas. The appellate court's decision here is not in conflict with another Court of Appeals decision. The law is well-settled on this issue and no new significant question of law is presented that warrants review.

C. Co-conspirator's statements

The Court of Appeals declined to address the issue of the admissibility of a co-conspirator's statements made after the declarant's arrest, "because the prodigious evidence of Edwards' guilt rendered any alleged error harmless." Edwards' sole argument on why this court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4) is that because no Washington

court has opined on the admissibility of a co-conspirator statement after arrest since 1988, it "warrants another look." This is an insufficient basis for review. The Court of Appeals correctly decided that the overwhelming evidence against Edwards rendered any alleged error harmless. 18

D. Juror bias

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to excuse a juror who "could not aver whether he witnessed events or merely dreamed about the events.

Assuming the juror saw events in real life, the juror did not witness the crimes, but only a tangential event. Edwards did not dispute having ridden a bike in Kelso shortly after the burglaries." When questioned by defense

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